

# Successful Communities Collaborative



Activists block Chicago's The 606 trail in 2016 to protest gentrification and displacement. Photo by Tyler Lariviere.

# Affordable Housing & Gentrification<sup>1</sup>

Spring 2022 • PAPA 599 • Community and Urban Planning Dr. Andrew Sullivan • Assistant Professor College of Arts and Sciences • Public Administration & Policy Analysis

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> This report builds on previous work carried out by students enrolled in ARC 550: Regional Architecture Studio, under the supervision of Prof. Craig Anz and Prof. Rolando Gonzalez in Summer 2021. See reports from Berogan et al. and Frankel et al. linked in the References



# Successful Communities Collaborative

- SIUE Successful Communities Collaborative
  - In Partnership with
  - Village of Brooklyn, Illinois
    - City of Madison, Illinois
      - & Venice, Illinois
        - 2021-2022







## Acknowledgements

Thank you to Mayors Vera Glasper-Banks (Brooklyn), John W. Hamm III (Madison), and Mayor Tyrone Echols (Venice) for their continued support of SIUE Successful Communities Collaborative (SSCC) and the students engaged in partnership projects. The SSCC team thanks Prof. Andrew Sullivan, Public Administration & Policy Analysis, for opening his graduate class up to include this much-needed analysis. The team also thanks Prof. Nancy L. Huyck, Chair of PAPA, and Prof. Kevin Leonard, Dean of the College of Arts and Sciences, for supporting classes engaged in SSCC projects. Lastly, the SSCC team is grateful for the contributions of Gretchen Arnold, David Bricker, Natalie Casey, Sarah Fowler, and Travis Wente to the report presented here.

## About Office of Online and Educational Outreach

Aligned with SIUE's mission to be a community that is dedicated to expanding knowledge to shape a changing world, our office offers a variety of personal and professional development opportunities. We work across credit, certificate and non-credit programs and provide a wide array of opportunities to engage in continuing education for career enhancement or simply for enjoyment.

The Office of Educational Outreach provides a broad array of services in support of academic units, community partners and all learners. Besides professional and personal development courses offered both on-campus and online, the Office of Online Services and Education Outreach provides:

- Student Services for Online degree programs
- Workshops for licensed professionals
- Conference Opportunities
- Non-credit personal development courses
- Professional development courses and certificates
- <u>Lifelong Learning</u> Institute
- Exam preparation courses
- Opportunity to join in our campus-based credit courses through the Educard program
- On campus <u>event scheduling</u> (Including the SIUE Gardens)
- Exam proctoring services
- <u>Video conference event scheduling</u>
- Support for <u>corporate partnerships</u>
- Support for the <u>SIUE Successful Community Collaborative</u>
- Support and registration for <u>SIUE summer camps</u>

Please explore our pages to learn more about how we extend the reach of SIUE by serving the broader community with continuing education, workforce training, personal development courses and much more.

#### **Office Online Services and Educational Outreach**

Enriching. Empowering. Engaging. Education for All.

Director – Mary Ettling

Rendleman Hall, Suite 1330

Phone: 618-650-3210

Fax: 618-650-2629

www.siue.edu/educationaloutreach

## **About SSCC**

SSCC is a cross-disciplinary program that supports yearlong partnerships between Illinois communities and SIUE to advance community-identified environmental, social, and economic issues and needs. Our mission is to connect communities with the students and faculty of SIUE.

SSCC works with administrative staff and stakeholders in partner communities to identify projects that will advance local resilience and sustainability. Each project is matched with one or more key courses at SIUE that can provide research or technical support and move the project forward.

For communities, SSCC provides innovative strategies to move community-identified, highpriority sustainability goals forward. Communities often face limited resources to explore sustainability and quality of life questions. SSCC seeks to reduce those obstacles by linking existing graduate and undergraduate courses at SIUE to explore innovative solutions to community-identified projects. Graduate, professional and advanced undergraduate students participate in SSCC by enrolling in a related course. A yearlong partnership can engage as many as 10-15 courses spanning up to 10 or more academic departments. Projects may include engineering, urban design, planning, cost-benefit analysis, economic development, legal and policy analysis, community engagement, marketing, or public relations campaigns.

SSCC staff work closely with faculty to incorporate community projects into their courses and connect students with community partners. Staff and stakeholders from the community work closely with SIUE faculty and students to provide local knowledge and a deeper understanding of the issues, guaranteeing projects are not only innovative but also suitable to the community.

#### SIUE Successful Communities Collaborative Team

Dr. Connie Frey Spurlock, Director of SSCC

Mary Ettling, Director of OSEO

Courtney Breckenridge, Specialist of Alternative Credentials & Grant Development, OSEO

Diane Cox, Director of Grant Development, SIUE Graduate School

Graduate Research Assistants: Breanna Booker, Sai Manish Myana, and Abidemi Alade

## **Course Participants**

Gretchen Arnold, Public Administration & Policy Analysis David Bricker, Public Administration & Policy Analysis Natalie Casey, Public Administration & Policy Analysis Sarah Fowler, Criminal Justice Policy Travis Wente, Public Administration & Policy Analysis

This report represents original student work and recommendations prepared by students in the Southern Illinois University Edwardsville's Successful Communities Collaborative Program for the Village of Brooklyn and Cities of Madison and Venice. Text and images contained in this report may not be used without permission from Southern Illinois University Edwardsville.

#### **About the Partnership**

The Village of Brooklyn and the Cities of Madison and Venice are located approximately 5 to 7 miles northeast of St. Louis, Missouri. The collective community is part of the Metro-East region of the Greater St. Louis metropolitan area.

Established in the 1820s, the Village of Brooklyn became the first incorporated Black town in the United States in 1873. Initiated by Mother Priscilla Baltimore, who bought her freedom from slavery, Brooklyn, Mother Baltimore, and Quinn Chapel AME Church in Brooklyn all played critical roles in the Underground Railroad. According to the 2020 Census, Brooklyn is home to approximately 680 residents.

The City of Madison was incorporated in 1891 and relocated twice before it settled in its current location on the east side of the Mississippi River. Founded by merchants from St. Louis, the final location was selected because of its convenient location for transporting coal from the east to the west side of the river. Madison is currently home to about 3,644 residents.

The City of Venice story began in 1815 when John Anthony built the first house in Venice. The land was platted for development in 1841, only to be washed away in the flood of 1851. By 1871, the city had relocated further inland. Two years later, it was incorporated. Venice is currently home to about 2,040 residents.

# **Table of Contents**

Affordable Housing & Gentrification0
Introduction0
Housing in the VMB Communities1
Venice's Affordable Housing Situation1
Madison's Affordable Housing Situation1
Brooklyn's Affordable Housing Situation2
Potential Impacts of Gentrification on the VMB Communities2
Review of Existing Research
Affordable Housing through Tax Incentives3
Affordable Housing through Zoning Policies4
Affordable Housing through Economic Development5
Affordable Housing and the COVID-19 Pandemic7
Affordable Housing and the Impact of Racism8
Affordable Housing and the Threat of Gentrification9
Recommendations
Recommendation 1:10
Recommendation 2:10
Recommendation 3:12
Recommendation 4:14
Conclusion
References



# Successful Communities Collaborative

# Affordable Housing & Gentrification

#### Introduction

The Cities of Venice, IL, Madison, IL, and the Village of Brooklyn, IL, have recently begun undertaking community revitalization efforts, with affordable housing being a keystone issue. Located north of East St. Louis, the VMB communities comprise a population of approximately 5,737, based on estimates from the 2019 American Community Survey. Once thriving and bustling communities, VMB now faces a recent history of job loss, crumbling infrastructure, low incomes, and a lack of housing. The proximity of these cities to St. Louis and the Mississippi River waterfront positions them as ripe for urban renewal, community development, and investment. However, planning for housing must go hand in hand with infrastructure improvements to streets, sewers, road access, traffic planning, and utilities (Levy, 2017, p.222).

Affordable housing and gentrification are two concepts. Furthermore, that must be addressed in a complex balancing act. When there is an imbalance between urban renewal and investment and prioritization of current residents, it is often those residents who are historically disadvantaged that pay the greatest price. According to the Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD), affordable housing "is generally defined as housing in which the occupant is paying no more than 30 percent of gross income for housing costs, including utilities" (U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development, 2011). Setting this 30 percent benchmark ensures citizens are not crushed by housing costs to the extent that it limits their ability to buy other goods, products, and services. HUD defines gentrification as "a form of neighborhood change that occurs when higher-income groups move into low-income areas, potentially altering the cultural and financial landscape of the original neighborhood" (U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development, 2016). One of the gentrification issues is the economic pressure it puts on those currently living in a community. In some communities, residents can find gentrification rapidly increasing property values and taxes, potentially forcing those individuals to move elsewhere for more economic stability.

#### Housing in the VMB Communities

#### Venice's Affordable Housing Situation

Like its surrounding communities, the population of Venice, IL, peaked in the 1960s. Since then, the population has shrunk to approximately 2,100 residents (Berogan et al., 2021). The population decline followed a larger disinvestment from the region that removed employment opportunities for locals. Consequently, the median household income in Venice today is around **\$25,500**, and about 30% of the population lives below the poverty line. Housing in the area comprises primarily single-family housing (2021). While housing is abundant in Venice, some homes are abandoned, while too many occupied homes need significant repair. In this context, Berogan et al. (2021) examined the potential for dedicating 7.71 acres of land to residential zoning to allow for a concentrated living space to encourage new businesses to enter the town.

#### Madison's Affordable Housing Situation

Madison, IL, is a city of 3,300 citizens (Brown et al., 2021), approximately 25% of whom live below the poverty line. Madison's 2003 comprehensive plan includes goals for creating safe

and habitable living conditions in residential zones and redeveloping existing housing (2021). Like the challenges noted above in Venice, Madison also faces challenges when recruiting new businesses and industries to the area. Brown et al.'s (2021) recommendation is to refurbish abandoned or vacant homes and only build new ones when necessary.

#### Brooklyn's Affordable Housing Situation

In 2019 Brooklyn, IL, had a population of 698 (Frankel et al., 2021), a median income of \$19,282, and a poverty rate of 38.5%. In the same year, the average cost of a home or condominium in Brooklyn was \$36,448, and median monthly housing costs were \$499. Considering the percentage of individuals in Brooklyn who live below the poverty line, Frankel et al. (2021) developed a four-phase plan for housing that would provide more housing options with a focus on current residents. Phase one of the plan would extend housing into the northern area of the village. Phase two of the project would focus on encouraging current residents to move into new housing while the larger residential area of Brooklyn is redeveloped. Frankel et al. (2021) note that housing and moving assistance would need to be provided to individuals. Phase three looks to remodel apartments in the southeast part of town with larger complexes that can house more individuals. The final phase of housing solutions is for future land development to the south, which could be used for additional housing options (Frankel et al., 2021).

#### **Potential Impacts of Gentrification on the VMB Communities**

All three VMB approaches aim to improve the quality of life for current residents and attract new residents and businesses. They do so by intertwining new green spaces, business districts, and areas for community engagement throughout their recommendations. Considering the desire to enhance the communities and promote new growth, gentrification is a risk. Thus, the issue of how to prevent gentrification from occurring in the VMB communities is a major problem addressed here. We begin by outlining previous approaches to developing affordable housing to prevent gentrification. We then summarize previous research on challenges to affordable housing, including the COVID-19 pandemic, racist practices, and gentrification. We end with four recommendations for the Brooklyn, Madison, and Venice, IL communities.

# Review of Existing Research

#### Affordable Housing through Tax Incentives

Combating the issue of insufficient affordable housing in the United States presents several potential complications. Though not a holistic approach, New Jersey, Massachusetts, and California have focused on implementing inclusionary housing policies (Thaden and Wang, 2017). Inclusionary housing policies refer to "any programs or policies that require or incentivize the creation of affordable housing when new development occurs, including impact or linkage fees that generate revenue for affordable housing" (Thaden & Wang, 2017).

The authors identified 886 jurisdictions with inclusionary housing programs spanning 25 states and the District of Columbia by the end of 2016. Of the 886 jurisdictions, 373 reported \$1.7 billion in impact or in-lieu fees used to create affordable housing. Additionally, the authors found that the 886 jurisdictions reported the creation of 173,707 affordable housing units, 70% of which were created after 2000. The types of affordable housing created by these jurisdictions were not only rental units: 49,287 were affordable homeownership units, 122,320 were affordable rental units, and 2,100 were marked as affordable homes (Thaden & Wang, 2017). This diversification of housing allows some affordable housing policies to translate directly to citizens gaining their property. At the same time, most units create affordable rentals but allow private entities to garner a new stream of revenue, creating a potential win-win scenario. How these jurisdictions incentivized developers to create affordable housing varied as well. Approximately 78% of the jurisdictions used density bonuses to incentivize developers,

44% used some variation of zoning policy as an incentive, and 37% offered fee reductions or waivers to developers (2017). The authors do admit that there is missing data from some of these jurisdictions, so it is believed that the number of housing units created by these inclusionary housing policies may be higher. Utilizing inclusionary housing policies in the VMB, as outlined above, can aid the VMB communities in achieving their end goal of providing affordable housing without

THIS DIVERSIFICATION OF HOUSING ALLOWS SOME AFFORDABLE HOUSING POLICIES TO TRANSLATE DIRECTLY TO CITIZENS GAINING THEIR PROPERTY. AT THE SAME TIME, MOST UNITS CREATE AFFORDABLE RENTALS BUT ALLOW PRIVATE ENTITIES TO GARNER A NEW STREAM OF REVENUE, CREATING A POTENTIAL WIN-WIN SCENARIO.

incurring maximum costs. Including these policies with the following research may yield a more equitable outcome.

#### Affordable Housing through Zoning Policies

One way local governments promote affordable housing is through inclusionary zoning or incentive zoning, which gives incentives to developers of market-rate housing to set aside units at below-market rents or prices (p. 221). Around 200 cities and towns across the United States have adopted a form of inclusionary zoning. This method is preferred among governments as it shifts the cost burden for developing affordable housing onto private developers (p. 223). Another policy many states take part in is fair share laws in which all local jurisdictions are required to contribute to the state's overall affordable housing supply (p. 221).

Currently, there needs to be more research on how much affordable housing has been produced by state and local governments (p. 224). However, after looking at select states with similar programs, Freeman and Schuetz (2017) found that most state and local programs produce small numbers of affordable units and usually do not meet the need for affordable housing (p. 228). This suggests that states and local governments could help prevent gentrification by giving preferences in new affordable housing developments to the current residents of the redeveloping neighborhoods, which would help allow low-income neighbors to remain in the neighborhoods (p. 229).

#### Affordable Housing through Economic Development

Some cities are linking affordable housing with economic development. Redistributive policies, where cities and states reallocate resources to more disadvantaged areas of a city, appear to be worthwhile on the surface and can be used to create affordable housing units, but have been shown to lead to less economic development, so they are often avoided by city leaders (Gonzalez-Gorman et al., 2018, p.183). Communities can tailor their affordable housing options with more flexible economic development policies that can make space for opportunities within their revitalization plans by including affordable housing planning in smart growth development, fewer regulatory barriers to building, and flexible land use policies (Gonzalez-Gorman et al., 2018, p.184).

Affordable housing within cities can be linked with economic development by deterring losing population to different cities with more housing options, thereby keeping the spending and tax dollars of that population within the community and assisting with/maintaining economic growth. Each of the VMB communities is run by mayor-council forms of government. The advantage of mayor-council forms of government is that it pushes local representatives to listen to residents, allowing for better resident involvement and participation in policy decisions. Mayor-council systems of government tend to spend more on affordable housing than on economic development to serve the needs of the residents better (Gonzalez-Gorman et al., 2018, p.186). Unfortunately, smaller populations combined with not being a central metropolitan area means that a particular city's government may be less likely to spend money on affordable housing and focus more on economic development. However, the location of some smaller cities, concerning the major metropolitan area of St. Louis, for example, the mayor-council forms of government, and lower economic growth position the cities as ripe for both economic development and affordable housing development (Gonzalez-Gorman et al., 2018, pp.190-191). Investments in affordable housing can be combined with targeted economic growth policies geared to bring the most "bang for the buck" business opportunities to the area, thereby reducing these two challenges without leaving either need unattended or spurring necessary development and growth in the area.

#### Affordable Housing and the COVID-19 Pandemic

It is important to consider the COVID pandemic when discussing safety and a sense of belonging, or lack thereof when people are sheltering in place. Siddiqi & Chitchian (2022) linked the COVID pandemic and housing issues in their research, stating that the unpredictability of the pandemic mixed with the instability of safe, affordable housing has many individuals "dreaming of a life beyond emergency" (p. 49). Keels (2022) attributes this experience to trauma linked to behavior issues and a range of social and mental problems passed onto future generations as housing inequalities multiply.

Every year the National Low Income Housing Coalition (NLIHC) releases data in a publication called, The Gap: A Shortage of Affordable Homes. The Gap examines the number of available, affordable rental homes for low-income households and other income groups. In the March 2021 issue, the NLIHC discusses how the COVID-19 pandemic has made finding affordable housing even more difficult. The NLIHC defines low income as households with incomes between 51% and 80% of the area median income (NLIHC, p. 2). According to the NLIHC, nearly 10.8 million renter households have extremely low incomes (NLIHC, p. 2). Currently, 7.4 million rental homes are affordable to extremely low-income renters nationally, assuming households spend no more than 30% of their incomes on housing (NLIHC, p. 3). However, of the 7.4 million homes that are affordable to extremely low-income households, only 4 million homes that rent at affordable prices are available to renters with extremely low-income households, (NLIHC, p. 5). Many higher-income households occupy homes affordable to lower-income households (NLIHC, p. 5). Thus, low-income households must compete with high-income households to find housing in the private market (NLIHC, p. 5). Due to the lack of

affordable housing, low-income renters are left with little choice but to rent homes that force them to spend more than half of their incomes on rent (NLIHC, p. 1).

The NLIHC notes that with the COVID-19 pandemic, many lost their jobs which could cause individuals to fall behind on rent which could lead to eviction (NLIHC, p. 1). Many experiencing homelessness, overcrowding, or housing instability are at greater risk of contracting the COVID-19 virus due to overcrowding (NLIHC, p. 1). In the fall of 2020, the Center for Disease Control (CDC) issued an eviction moratorium that temporarily halted evictions for nonpayment of rent for most renters who have lost income due to the pandemic (NLIHC, p. 17). However, the NLIHC states that more will need to be done after the expiration of eviction moratoriums to help prevent low-income households from being evicted or forced to pay back rent debt (NLIHC, p. 18).

#### Affordable Housing and the Impact of Racism

The National Civic League calls the act of separation by race or class "a form of opportunity hoarding," referring to the selfishness behind keeping homeownership, high-value school systems, and power in politics in the hands of white people (National Civic Review, 2021). The average non-Hispanic white household holds 7.8 times more wealth than the median Black household, which we can attribute to inequalities in homeownership access and the racial pay gap, among other factors (Haberle and House, 2021). To solve this systematic issue, the National Civic League calls for the Healing Through Policy initiative, which includes zoning changes, eviction and displacement protections, and transportation transformations (2021). Haberle and House (2021) discuss a big government opportunity for change, explaining that the Biden administration has listed racial equity as a top priority. Haberle and House (2021)

contend that if we do not experience real change in racial equity, we will not be able to calm the housing disparities and gentrification anxieties we see in our backyards. A 1997 study revealed that high rates of racial segregation and the lower supply of affordable housing led to overcrowding of Black households (Carter, 2011, p. 33). This offset in supply and demand is shifting more residents into homelessness due to a lack of options. In large cities, people who are displaced or looking for a home may have an abundance of options; however, research suggests that local decision-makers in small towns may be reluctant to advocate for an increase in affordable housing due to their proximity to residents, local power dynamics, and racial inequality (Osinubi, 2021). This lack of crucial infrastructure could lead to a growing poverty rate in a struggling community.

#### Affordable Housing and the Threat of Gentrification

Gentrification can cause several challenges, including those specific to renters through increasing rents that push them out of their current homes and neighborhoods (Freeman and Schuetz, 2016, p. 218). Another issue is that residents may feel pushed out of their neighborhoods when they do not receive the benefits of gentrification or feel like they no longer 'fit' in the community.

State and local governments have started to adopt policies to address problems that could occur with gentrification and rising housing costs. The federal government provides resources to assist with affordable housing such as the Housing Choice Program (Freeman & Schuetz, 2016, p. 220). However, many note that the budgets for the Housing Choice Program and other federal housing programs have not expanded their budgets to keep up with the growing population in need of these services. In response to the lack of federal aid many local and state policies have been designed to help produce and preserve affordable housing (Freeman & Schuetz, 2016, p. 221).

#### Recommendations

Based on the preceding review, we outline here four recommendations.

#### **Recommendation 1:**

One of the main problems that could be faced during the redevelopment of VMB is that current residents who need affordable housing are forced to compete against individuals with higher incomes. Freeman and Schuetz (2017) recommend that states and local governments prevent gentrification by giving preference in new affordable housing developments to current residents of the redeveloping neighborhoods (p. 229). VMB leaders should implement policies whereby current residents have priority in choosing their housing. Prioritizing current residents in new housing could help prevent gentrification and allow them to stay in an area they know and to which they are connected. It is important that the current residents feel they have a say in the redevelopment process, as these individuals could feel that they no longer belong in the redeveloped neighborhoods. It is also important that improvements do not increase the cost of living, as this could push out lower-income families due to affordability.

#### **Recommendation 2:**

The National Civic League discusses the positive correlation between access to affordable legal counsel and housing in its publication in National Civic Review (2021). This will even out the power struggle between tenant and property owner. New York City is implementing this change, and the city will provide all tenants with legal counsel by the end of 2022. In 2018, the first year of implementation, over 87,000 New Yorkers benefited from this program (National Civic League, 2022). We recommend that the VMB communities adopt a similar program to ensure residents have access to free or reduced-cost legal counsel when housing concerns arise. Doing so will provide an opportunity for residents to engage with appropriate legal entities about issues that arise concerning their living situations. Such a policy will contribute to building legal equity as a study recently found that 81% of property owners appeared with legal counsel in Cook County's eviction court, compared to just 12% of tenants (Housing Action Illinois, 2019). Safe and accessible housing should be a right of human beings, and access to legal counsel provided by the state guarantees a checks and balances system when it comes to property owners and their tendencies to sometimes take advantage of their renters. Legal information and resources are available in and around most courthouses within Madison and Saint Clair counties; however, quality legal advice usually comes at a price. Land of Lincoln Legal Aid is available to low-income individuals in Illinois, but they are only open from 9 am-6 pm during the week (Housing Law, 2021). This leaves a tiny window for working people to meet or call someone at this aid facility. Articles to read and forms to fill out only go so far without assistance and knowledgeable people to help the process. What is needed are later hours, weekend appointments, and better access to similar programs for working individuals to reach out for the help they deserve.

One legal protection that has taken hold in Oakland, California, is the "just cause" eviction, which tells property owners that they can only evict their renters due to specific, believable motivations, such as failure to pay rent, and not just because they are being retaliatory or discriminatory and taking it out on their renter for an arbitrary reason (National Civic League, 2022). Ensuring "just cause" eviction protection for the VMB communities will show the people of VMB that their leaders care for them and are prepared to protect them through the enactment of fair housing practices. Chicago, Cook County's biggest city, has yet to adopt this protection, so it is clear this protection measure needs to trickle down into the southern part of the state and help Venice, Madison, and Brooklyn become less helpless (Housing Action Illinois, 2019).

#### **Recommendation 3:**

Affordable housing in the VMB communities is at a critical junction where many approaches could vastly transform the current municipalities. One of the more feasible affordable housing goals is to create more than one type of affordable housing unit in a municipality, for instance, the creation of rental units along with affordable single-family housing. Rental units can be more attractive to developers, as they can provide a new source of income for those companies after investing in the VMB communities. This creates a more "business friendly" environment to entice economic development where communities would prefer. Additionally, creating single-family housing alongside rental units allows the VMB communities to employ an approach geared toward community planning equity. Affording some members of the VMB communities a chance to purchase their own affordable home and plot of land can go far in allowing low-income families to obtain intergenerational wealth through investments in those properties. Community members may also find themselves more inclined to participate in their community if they have more of a stake in the community than renting a unit. Diversification of affordable housing stock should be backed with inclusionary housing policies. Such policies have seen modest success across the United States over the past 20 years. An inclusionary housing policy refers to "any programs or policies that require or incentivize the creation of affordable housing when new development occurs, including impact or linkage fees that generate revenue for affordable housing" (Thaden & Wang, 2017). Through these policies, researchers found that 886 jurisdictions reported creating 173,707 units of affordable housing, 70% of which were created after the year 2000 (Thaden & Wang, 2017).

The most popular inclusionary housing policy used by 78% of those jurisdictions was "density bonuses" (Thaden & Wang, 2017). Density bonuses are "a zoning exception granted by a municipality to allow for more housing units to be built on a given site, such as increase in dwelling units per acre, floor area ratio, or height." (Local Housing Solutions, 2022). These bonuses can allow a developer to recoup some of their expenditures and reinvest them in creating high-density affordable housing and limit the amount of land use compared to singlefamily homes. Another aspect of density bonuses is that they are the most likely inclusionary housing policy to yield affordable housing in neighborhoods with a robust level of market-rate construction or redevelopment activity, where the bonus is carefully calibrated to make it financially advantageous to developers (Local Housing Solutions, 2022). Municipalities can implement these bonuses by allowing larger units in a development site or exempting height restrictions for other stories to be built. This approach would allow municipalities to set the terms of these bonuses as either a "flat rate" across their jurisdiction or on a case-by-case basis, allowing for greater control as the housing situation unfolds. Communities will need to set density bonus guidelines, and they "should specify the criteria for eligibility, including the income level(s) that must be served to qualify for this incentive, the share of units in the development that must meet these affordability requirements, and how long the units must remain available at affordable prices." (Local Housing Solutions, 2022).

Implementing a public-private approach can benefit communities with limited budgets and developers looking to increase profits without relinquishing too much control to local governments. Pairing the density bonuses with policies prioritizing current residents' applications over outside interests could go a long way in combating the potential onset of future gentrification, which has a history of showing up in redeveloped low-income areas. Density bonuses are not recommended as an alternative to creating single-family housing but rather as a compliment as they can house larger populations while keeping land use down. Communities can use the land they "saved" in the process toward the development of green spaces, which are increasing in demand across the United States due to the pandemic and climate change and can potentially increase existing property values.

#### **Recommendation 4:**

One option for ensuring that long-term, low-income residents can stay in their homes and neighborhoods is rent control. Rent control does not mean that rent never changes but that tenants are protected from rapid rent increases in a rental property where they already reside and that standards of maintenance are set so that property owners cannot decide to maintain a property in an attempt to force out renters and then re-rent at a higher price. Security deposits are limited, so high deposits cannot be used to keep out residents of certain incomes (National Low Income Housing Coalition, 2019). Another option for preventing gentrification in the VMB communities is the

development of a Community Land Trust (CLT). CLTs (Community Land Trust) are communitybased, nonprofit organizations that buy land to preserve it for the development of low or mixed-income housing or other uses that will benefit the existing community, ensuring that it is not bought by developers who will not reinvest in the neighborhood. (National Low Income Housing Coalition, 2019). Under this model, when individually owned properties are sold, they are sold to another low-income family, keeping the property at a below-market price, and allowing another low-income family the chance of home ownership.

#### Conclusion

Affordable housing has been a constant and pervasive issue impacting U.S. society and while we do not claim to have the "cure all" for this issue, the intention of this project is to provide a potential road map to making that goal more obtainable. The various policy options provided in this paper are recommended to aid in affordable housing, while keeping the specter of gentrification in mind. Mixing and matching these policies while making adaptations to the VMB communities' most pressing concerns may result in better land use outcomes and more equitable divisions of local housing. With a growing volume of literature that attempts to solve affordable housing dilemmas, the VMB communities can stand to benefit from the successes and failures experienced across the United States by carving out their own best practices with the information gathered.

# References

A shortage of affordable homes - national low income ... (n.d.). Retrieved February 4, 2022, from <u>https://reports.nlihc.org/sites/default/files/gap/Gap-Report\_2021.pdf</u>

Berogan, A., Broms, W., Eidson, Z., Gholami, F., Temple, B., & Williamson, C. (2021). *The Venice-Brooklyn-Madison, Illinois Revitalization Project*. Retrieved from <a href="https://siucarchitecture.wixsite.com/community-engagement/venice-illinois-in-house-students">https://siucarchitecture.wixsite.com/community-engagement/venice-illinois-in-house-students</a>

Brown, N., Choate, K., Hafsat, J., Loverher, A., Starcevich, M., & Ventura, A. (2021, July 28).
STRENGTHENING MADISON, ILLINOIS A COMPONENT OF THE VENICE - BROOKLYN MADISON REVITALIZATION PROJECT. Retrieved from
<a href="https://bb.siue.edu/bbcswebdav/pid-2814028-dt-content-rid-48731104\_1/xid-48731104\_1">https://bb.siue.edu/bbcswebdav/pid-2814028-dt-content-rid-48731104\_1/xid-48731104\_1</a>

Carter, G. R. (2011). From Exclusion to Destitution: Race, Affordable Housing, and Homelessness. *Cityscape*, *13*(1), 33–70. <u>http://www.jstor.org/stable/20868768</u>

Data USA (n.d.), Retrieved January 23, 2022, from: https://datausa.io/

Ending Separation through Housing, Transportation, and Education Policy. (2021). *National Civic Review*, *110*(3),38–52.<u>https://www.jstor.org/stable/10.325/naticivirevi.110.3.0038</u>

Frankel, A., Grenhoff, A., Cortopassi, K., Creamer, H., Kamalisarvestani, S., Zimmerman, N.,

Anz, C., & Gonzalez, R. (n.d.). THE CASE OF BROOKLYN, ILLINOIS

**REVITALIZATION PROPOSAL.** Retrieved from

https://siucarchitecture.wixsite.com/community-engagement/brooklyn-illinois-in-

Freeman, L., & Schuetz, J. (2017). Producing affordable housing in rising markets: What works? Cityscape, 19(1), 217-236.

Gola, A., Singh, A., & Heynen, H. (Eds.) (2022), *Making Home(s) in Displacement: Critical Reflections on Spatial Practice* (pp. 45–60). Leuven University Press.

https://doi.org/10.2307/j.ctv25wxbvf.5

Gonzalez-Gorman, S., Kwon, S., Bak, D., & Park, S. (2018). Can cities attract affordable housing

for economic development? The roles of growth management policies and urban political institutions. *Journal of Public and Nonprofit Affairs, 4*(2), 181-196.

Haberle, M., & House, S. (Eds.). (2021). Structural Racism in Housing Finance: Understanding

the System to Change the System. In *Racial Justice in Housing Finance: A Series on New Directions* (pp. 7–34). Poverty & Race Research Action Council.

http://www.jstor.org/stable/resrep32132.4

Housing Action Illinois (n.d.). Addressing eviction. Housing Action Illinois. Retrieved March 2,

2022, from https://housingactionil.org/what-we-do/advocacy/eviction/

Housing law. Land Of Lincoln. (2021, July 14). Retrieved February 26, 2022, from

https://lincolnlegal.org/housing-law/

Keels, M. (2022). Developmental & Ecological Perspective on the Intergenerational

Transmission of Trauma & Violence. *Daedalus*, 151(1), 67–83.

https://www.jstor.org/stable/48638130

Levy, J. (2017). Contemporary Urban Planning. Routledge.

Local Housing Solutions. (2022, February 8). Density bonuses. Local Housing Solutions.org.

Retrieved February 20, 2022, from <u>https://localhousingsolutions.org/housing-policy-</u> library/density-bonuses/

National Low Income Housing Coalition (2019). Gentrification and neighborhood revitalization:

What's the difference? Nlihc.org https://nlihc.org/resource/gentrification-and-

neighborhood-revitalization-whats-difference

Osinubi, A., et al., (2021). "Perceptions and Affordable Rental Housing: Small-town

Perspective from Georgia." Housing and Society, 2021, pp. 1–22.

https://doi.org/10.1080/08882746.2021.1940447

Siddiqi, A. I., & Chitchian, S. (2022). To Shelter in Place for a Time Beyond. In L. Beeckmans,

A. Gola, A. Singh, & H. Heynen (Eds.), *Making Home(s) in Displacement: Critical* 

*Reflections on a Spatial Practice* (pp. 45–60). Leuven University Press.

https://doi.org/10.2307/j.ctv25wxbvf.5

Thaden, E., & Wang, R. (2017, September). *Inclusionary housing in the United States ... - jstor home*. Lincoln Institute of Land Policy. Retrieved February 4, 2022, from https://www.jstor.org/stable/pdf/resrep18611.1.pdf

U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development. (2011, August 18). HUD Archives:

*Glossary of terms to affordable housing*. HUD. Retrieved January 21, 2022, from: <u>https://archives.hud.gov/local/nv/goodstories/2006-04-</u> <u>06glos.cfm#:~:text=Affordable%20Housing%3A%20Affordable%20housing%20is,Referen</u>

ce%3A%20www.hud.gov

U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development. (2016, December). HUD user home page

HUD USER. HUD Ensuring Equitable Neighborhood Change: Gentrification Pressures on Housing Affordability. Retrieved January 21, 2022, from:

https://www.huduser.gov/portal/sites/default/files/pdf/Insights-Ensuring-Equitable-Growth.pdf